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			‘There is more latitude in eccentrics. They are always honest and have their own quality of madness. In the final analysis, they will be the saints.’

			The actress Margaret Rutherford talking about her cousin Tony Benn
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			PART ONE: AMERICA

		

	
		
			
			

			Prairie Rose

			If Buenos Aires is the heart of Argentine football, then Rosario is its soul. Like the north-east of England, its fame lies not in the silverware it has won but in the men it has produced and the passion with which they are supported. The city’s development was underpinned not by coal, steel and shipbuilding but by the vast prairie of the Argentine pampas. Rosario dealt in wheat, cattle and horses. Then came football.

			The city and its two main teams, Newell’s Old Boys and Rosario Central, developed footballers because, unlike the great clubs of Buenos Aires – Boca Juniors, Independiente and River Plate – they could not afford to buy them. Rosario became known in Argentina as ‘the Cradle of Football’.

			Rubén Gaggioli, a businessman from Rosario who represented Lionel Messi when he went from Newell’s to Barcelona as a thirteen-year-old, said: ‘It’s not like in Spain, where an underage player can have their own car, earn a salary and live well. In Rosario, those kids don’t have anything so when they go out on to the pitch, they will lay down their lives to win. They have this essence to become great players. It’s not just in the city of Rosario. It’s also about its surrounding areas. A lot of Newell’s greatest players – Jorge Valdano, Mauricio Pochettino and Gabriel Batistuta – come from the outlying areas. They come from the famous potrero. It’s something that in Europe practically doesn’t exist. The potrero is where kids play on the streets on patches of open, uneven ground. This is where these young footballers are created.’

			
			

			Before Messi, before Tata Martino and Marcelo Bielsa, before Mario Kempes, Ángel di María and César Luis Menotti, Rosario’s great claim to fame was as the place where the flag of Argentina was first raised. This was in 1812 and the man who raised it on the bend of the Paraná river was General Manuel Belgrano. At that time there was no country called Argentina, just a vast province of the Spanish Empire called the Viceroyalty of Río de la Plata. It was made up of what is now central Argentina, Uruguay, Paraguay, northern Chile and southern Peru. Its main sources of wealth were its silver mines and the thousands of head of cattle that were exported every year through the port of Buenos Aires. However, by the time the Spanish fleet, under the command of its French allies, was shot to pieces at Trafalgar in 1805, the silver was beginning to run out while British control of the seas meant the cattle stayed where they were.

			
			

			Then, in 1806–7, began the strange love-hate relationship between Britain and Argentina, when British forces attempted to seize control of the province. They were met with anything the citizens of Buenos Aires could lay their hands on: muskets; boiling water and oil thrown from top-floor windows; artillery directed by regular troops. The British were attacked by African slaves, creoles -  those who had lived all their lives in South America. This action is recalled by Argentinians simply as ‘the Defence’. In August 1807, the Redcoats surrendered. On his return to England, the commanding officer, Lieutenant-General John Whitelocke, was court-martialled and sacked, essentially for losing to an army of amateurs. Some 1,200 of his soldiers, deserters or prisoners of war, stayed behind to help build the new Argentina.

			The fact the citizens of Buenos Aires had beaten the British by themselves and that the Spanish governor, Rafael de Sobremonte, had fled with the city’s treasury which he had then managed to lose, had broken the last ties with Madrid. On 27 February 1812, Belgrano unfurled the blue and white flag of Argentina in Rosario. Four years later, Argentina was an independent nation.

			Rosario became the booming centre of the country’s great wheat and cattle belts. By 1926 nearly half the city’s population were immigrants, many from Liguria in north-western Italy. In the words of Juan Álvarez, a Rosarino who became the country’s attorney general in 1935, Rosario differed from Santa Fe or Buenos Aires because it had not been founded by the Spanish. It was, he said, ‘a self-made city’, and it was one with radical politics. Che Guevara was born here. His sport of choice was rugby.

			
			

			Marcelo Bielsa’s great-grandfather was a carpenter from Esperanza, an agricultural town about a hundred miles north of Rosario. He sent his son, Rafael, to Buenos Aires to learn how to become a master furniture maker. Rafael was more interested in books and the law and he enrolled himself in the University of Buenos Aires. In January 1918 Rafael Bielsa graduated with a doctorate in jurisprudence. His thesis sounds remarkably modern – a study into accidents at work and how they were covered by the law. Three years later Rafael was in Rosario, as general secretary of the city council. He worked at the Ministry of Justice, became president of the Rosario bar association, taught literature at the School of Commerce.

			By 1949, when he was 60, Rafael Bielsa was one of South America’s foremost lawyers. He was dean of the Universidad del Litoral at Santa Fe, professor at the law faculty at the University of Buenos Aires, an honorary professor of the Sorbonne in Paris. His great house in Rosario, by the Parque de la Independencia, housed a library containing more than 3,000 books. He had turned down a position on Argentina’s Supreme Court because he was not convinced of the independence of those who would share the tribunal with him.

			
			

			At this time Argentina was changing radically. It was the time of Juan and Eva Perón, whose programme of sweeping reforms in favour of Argentina’s working class, wrapped up with nationalist posturing, appealed to both left and right. Rosario was a fervently Peronist city. In February 1946, when they were campaigning for the presidency, Juan and Eva were mobbed as they arrived at the city’s rail station after a six-hour journey from Buenos Aires. In the central square, with swarms of locusts weighing down the night sky and people climbing banana or palm trees for a better view, the cry that was to haunt Argentine politics for generations was first heard. ‘Evita.’

			The Perons’ ideology had no time for intellectuals from the left or the right. Bernardo Houssay, the first Argentine scientist to win the Nobel Prize, was driven from office. Jorge Luis Borges, perhaps the country’s greatest writer but a political conservative, was asked to leave his position at the unassuming library where he worked and wrote. He was offered a new job as inspector of poultry and rabbits at the Buenos Aires market. Bielsa was forced out of his position as dean of the Universidad del Litoral. He outlived the Perón dictatorship and began codifying the law of the provinces of Santa Fe and Mendoza. Buildings and streets were named after him; one is in his home town of Esperanza, another in a working-class district of Rosario. There is another in Buenos Aires, by the Chacarita Cemetery, which contains the grave of Leopoldo Galtieri, who persecuted Rafael Bielsa’s grandson and namesake, and the tomb of Alexander Watson Hutton, the Glaswegian who in 1893 founded the Argentine FA.

			
			

			Marcelo Bielsa’s father, also called Rafael but nicknamed ‘El Turco’ (the Turk) was also a lawyer, although as the journalist and commentator, Román Iucht, recounts in his study of Bielsa, La Vida por el fútbol, he was a less driven personality:

			El Turco always had a bohemian personality and inherited his father’s profession, though he tended to lean politically more to the right. He loved cars and admitted he would have liked to have become a mechanical engineer. He worked in his father’s study, although his clients were not of the same standing, they were much more simple cases. For him, the law was a job rather than a vocation. It was his custom that every day at noon he would go to a Basque bar, the Laurak Bat, in the centre of Rosario for a drink with his friends. It was common for him to be taken out of the bar by his children who were tired of waiting for him in the car and had to remind him that there was a family lunch waiting for them. He listened to a lot of music and Marcelo’s friends who came to the house in Calle Mitre recalled Frank Sinatra as a permanent soundtrack.

			
			

			The family lunches to which the Bielsa children dragged their father out of Laurak Bat would have been worth the wait. Their mother, Lidia, was a superb cook. She was also a history teacher and both her passions would form a central part of Marcelo’s life. When in the mid–1990s he was in Mexico managing Atlas Guadalajara, his assistant, Ernesto Urrea, recalled: ‘He read so much that I think he knew more about Mexican culture than I did. I have also never seen anyone eat as much. He loved the antojitos [Mexican street food] that they sold on street corners. When we went to restaurants, he would order every dish on the menu just so he could taste each one.’ When he was manager of Chile, Marcelo’s favourite restaurant was La Signoria, an unpretentious Italian place in Santiago, where he would order la torta del nonno, a chocolate cake filled with pears sautéed in honey.

			Lidia Caldera gave her children something more fundamental than a taste for good food. She was from a far more working-class background than her husband, and where the Bielsas lived in Calle Mitre bordered onto a working-class barrio. Lidia mixed easily with people from both sides of the tracks and, though her children would go to university, become politicians, architects, manage football teams, write novels and design hotels, they were not snobs. It is one of Marcelo Bielsa’s great attributes that despite coming from a moneyed, intellectual family, he would form strong relationships not just with working-class footballers but with those like Carlos Tévez, whose background was dirt-poor.

			
			

			Marcelo was the middle of three children, all of whom would reach the peak of their chosen careers. In one year, 2003, Rafael would be Argentina’s foreign secretary, Marcelo would be managing the nation’s football team and the youngest, María Eugenia, a renowned architect, became deputy governor of Santa Fe province, which included their home city of Rosario. It was Rafael, born in February 1953, who followed his grandfather’s path most directly. When he was Britain’s chancellor of the exchequer in the 1970s, Denis Healey, who was MP for Leeds East, liked to say he was a politician with a hinterland, that he had interests outside the Palace of Westminster. Rafael Bielsa’s hinterland included the law, politics and poetry. Despite the humiliation his grandfather had suffered at the hands of Juan Perón, Rafael and his sister, María Eugenia, became supporters of a left-wing nationalist version of Peronism, opposed to both the military junta and socialism. He would write novels and histories, and attempt to negotiate the restoration of direct flights between Buenos Aires and the Falkland Islands with the British foreign secretary, Jack Straw.

			As a young man Rafael became attracted to radical politics. In September 1969, when he was sixteen, 30,000 demonstrators, spearheaded by 4,000 students protesting against the military dictatorship of Juan Carlos Onganía, seized control of the centre of Rosario. By mid-afternoon the government controlled a mere six blocks of the city, concentrated on the radio station, the court building and the army and police headquarters. At nine o’clock that night, the crackdown began, led by the Second Army Corps. There were scores of dead. Leopoldo Galtieri, who was to become well known to the Bielsas, took a leading role in the violence. A calm of sorts was restored.

			
			

			María Eugenia Bielsa was born in 1958, three years after Marcelo, five after Rafael. As with all the Bielsa children, the value of education was drilled into her. ‘In my house there was a rule that you had to be a university student,’ she recalled in 2004. ‘My dad wanted me to become an accountant because I’d earn plenty of money. My mum just wanted me to be a university student.’ Her passion was architecture. She studied then lectured in the subject at the University of Rosario and, like Rafael, became involved in the politics of Peronism, which flourished after the downfall of the junta. While he became foreign secretary, she was the deputy governor of the Santa Fe province and in 2019 after the victory of the Peronist presidential candidate, Alberto Fernández, she was once more back in frontline politics, helping to oversee the creation of a Ministry of Housing, a department she headed. It was through María Eugenia that Marcelo met his wife, Laura Bracalenti, a fellow architect, with whom he would have two daughters: Inés, born in 1989, and Mercedes three years later.

			Marcelo, was the middle child, born in July 1955. He would have many interests but only one passion, which was to stay with him all his life: football. His attitude at School Number Three, a primary school in the Calle Entre Ríos, in one of Rosario’s middle-class districts, would be the same as when he oversaw games at Newell’s Old Boys or at the Estadio Monumental in Buenos Aires. If his team was not good enough, he became angry. Cheating of any kind left him furious. In La Vida por el fútbol, Román Iucht wrote:

			
			

			Football was his religion and the mass took place every weekend. Every Friday night, the young Marcelo began his ritual. He would obsessively prepare his kit, putting out his shirt, socks and shorts and polishing his boots. Early on Saturday morning, around eight o’clock, he would go round to his neighbour, Hugo Vitantonio, who lived a few metres away. They would go out into the street and wait for the team to gather. They were all boys from the area, which was a middle-class district. During the week they would be separated by school life. Some, like Bielsa, went to the Normal, others to Juana Manso. On Saturdays, they were reunited by their passion for sport. Their destination would be the Parque de la Independencia or the Corazón de María church, which had a football pitch at the bottom. Another option was to go to the stadium of Central Córdoba, a typical lower-division club, and use the training pitches the first team did not require. The boys felt they were professionals and were playing to become heroes of the game. Their team was called Blue Star.

			
			

			Mostly, Marcelo played as a defender, though a desire to win would drive him into midfield or even attack. They did not then call him El Loco but El Cabezón, which translates as ‘Big Head’.

			Pedro Vitantonio was Blue Star’s ‘manager’. One day, while they were playing on an improvised pitch in the park, a policeman turned up to investigate a complaint that they had damaged a tree. Pedro accepted responsibility and the policeman began to lead him away. Suddenly, both men were surrounded by eleven- and twelve-year-old boys demanding that Pedro be released. Then Marcelo threw himself to the floor, grabbed the policeman around the ankles and was dragged along while demanding his manager be released.

			There were other football-related brushes with the law. When a policeman came to answer a complaint about a broken window, the young Bielsa shouted at him to wait until he had taken a corner. That was enough to have him carted off to the station until his father came to get him. Even then, Marcelo would not leave until his ball had been returned to him. Both those stories seem to indicate that Rosario in the 1960s either had very little crime to investigate or an awful lot of policemen.

			By 1966, when Argentina had been controversially beaten by England in the World Cup quarter-finals and labelled ‘animals’ by Alf Ramsey, Marcelo was ready for secondary school at a time when football was being talked of with a fierce passion. When Antonio Rattín was dismissed at Wembley for dissent, took ten minutes to leave the pitch and sat on the red carpet that had been laid out for the Queen, the reaction in Argentina was ferocious. The team was treated like heroes and declared ‘the moral winners of the World Cup’. As he stepped off the plane, Rattín, who was to become a right-wing politician after retirement, was wrapped in the national flag. The newspaper Crónica stated that ‘Spiritually, England is still the pirate that despoiled the Caribbean and robbed us of the Falklands.’ In the British embassy in Buenos Aires, the ambassador, Sir Michael Cresswell, was placed under armed guard for his own protection.

			
			

			The school Bielsa attended, the Sacred Heart, had been founded in 1900 and was one of the most prestigious in Rosario. Its elegant white colonnaded facade, with a statue of the Virgin Mary on the roof, was a short walk from his grandfather’s mansion. ‘He didn’t like getting dressed in the morning,’ Rafael Bielsa recalled. ‘He would sleep in his jacket and trousers. They said he was mad but these weren’t unusual things to do.’

			There was something else a short walk away from his house: the Coloso del Parque, the home of Newell’s Old Boys. It was his uncle, Pancho Parola, who introduced Marcelo to the club, forging a bond that would never leave him. Throughout his life, he would return again and again to his experiences at Newell’s as a fan, a player and a manager as an example of how football should be played and lived.

			
			

			Newell’s, like so much in Argentina, had English roots. Isaac Newell had come to Rosario from Kent as a teenager in 1869 and later founded the Anglican Commercial College of Argentina, a school whose coat of arms was red and black. In November 1903 Isaac’s son, Claudio, set up a football team which he named after his father, Newell’s Old Boys. They kept the school colours. In 1939 both Newell’s and its great rivals, Rosario Central, joined the Argentine Football League for its first season. Like Newell’s, Rosario Central had been formed by the British, in this case a group of workers for the Central Argentine Railway.

			The club was slightly older than Newell’s, having been founded in 1889. The origins of their blue and yellow kit are also English, based on the colours Leeds United wore until 1961 when Don Revie decided that the all-white of Real Madrid would suit them better.

			The clubs’ nicknames date from the 1920s, when – and nobody is very sure of the date – a leper hospital asked the two clubs to play a charity game. Newell’s accepted; Rosario refused. Since then, Newell’s have been known as Los Leprosos (the Lepers) while Rosario are Las Canallas (the Scoundrels). Fans of Newell’s sometimes tell a story that Che Guevara, who supported Rosario Central, worked in a leper colony as an act of penitence. Like many stories it is true but not quite. In their tour of South America on a 500cc Norton – a trip that would later be filmed as The Motorcycle Diaries – Guevara and his friend Alberto Granada stopped at several leper colonies, but only because Granada had worked with lepers in Argentina and this was the best way to earn food and money that would keep them on the road. Making amends for Rosario Central had little to do with it.

			
			

			To gauge the depth of the Newell’s–Rosario Central rivalry, it is worth recalling an interview Bielsa’s father gave to El Gráfico in 1998, the year Marcelo won his third league title in Argentina. ‘I never saw Marcelo play nor have I seen him manage,’ said El Turco. ‘It’s not that I don’t like football, it’s because I am a Central supporter and also because I prefer another type of football, one which has less marking and pressing. We talk about it every time he comes home. He has his point of view and he tells me that he has to train his teams to win.’

			When Marcelo Bielsa was growing up, Argentina’s football was divided into two championships. The Metropolitano was contested over the first half of the season while the second half was devoted to the Campeonato Nacional. Rosario had been the slightly more successful side. They won the Nacional in 1971 and again in 1973. Newell’s had won nothing in their history, and then in June 1974 they came to the last game of the Metropolitano season top of the league. It was played at Rosario Central’s ground, the Gigante de Arroyito. Central needed a win to take the title; Newell’s could do it with a draw. With twenty-one minutes remaining, Central were two up. They did not hold on and in the eighty-first minute Mario Zanabria, who would later work with Bielsa in Mexico, scored the equaliser that would give Newell’s their first piece of major silverware. By then Bielsa was nearly nineteen and had been with Newell’s youth teams for six years. He would break into the first team only briefly in 1976, a year when Argentine politics was careering towards total breakdown. The government, led by Juan Perón’s second wife, Isabel, was being assaulted by terrorism from both left and right. The communist Montoneros guerrillas had attached a limpet mine to the new destroyer Santísima Trinidad and blown out the bottom of her hull. An attempt by the guerrillas of the People’s Revolutionary Army to storm the arsenal at Monte Chingolo outside Buenos Aires was repelled by attacks from helicopter gunships. Inflation reached 700 per cent. The peso was devalued twice. Newspapers openly called for the army to intervene and on 23 March, the chief of staff, General Jorge Videla, launched his coup. Isabel Perón was arrested and the army moved in.

			
			

			Amid all this, Marcelo Bielsa was attempting to forge a football career.

		

	
		
			
			

			Football with the Generals

			As the economy crashed, as the generals waited, Marcelo Bielsa prepared for the Olympic Games. Argentina may have been falling apart but in football a golden age was beginning to dawn.

			César Luis Menotti was from Rosario. He had been a striker for Central, won the Argentine championship with Boca Juniors and played alongside Pelé at Santos. It was, however, as a manager who espoused beautiful, fluid football that he reached the pinnacle of his career. He once said: ‘When football is played the right way, like painting, like music, it tends to be something beautiful and, if that idea is not sustained, it vanishes.’ In 1973, he had taken Huracán, one of Buenos Aires’ smaller clubs, to the league title. The following year, after a clunking, unsophisticated Argentina had been humiliated in the World Cup, swept away by the brilliance of Johan Cruyff in the rain in Gelsenkirchen, Menotti was appointed to repair the damage.

			
			

			A chain-smoking left-wing intellectual with long hair, Menotti was hardly the dictatorship’s ideal of a national team manager, but Argentina was due to stage the World Cup in 1978 and Menotti represented their best chance of winning it. He was untouchable. In January 1976 he contacted Jorge Griffa, Newell’s academy manager. Argentina were due to play a qualifying tournament for the Montreal Olympics and Menotti wanted Griffa to send Newell’s reserve team to Recife on Brazil’s north-east coast. Bielsa was one of those chosen to go.

			Bielsa was twenty and played well enough in central defence to be named in the team of the tournament alongside Brazil’s Edinho, who would play in three World Cups. Argentina finished third but the following month Bielsa made his debut for Newell’s Old Boys in the rain at the Coloso del Parque in a 2–1 defeat to River Plate. One of his closest friends at Newell’s was Roberto Agueropolis, a fellow defender who would later play for Panathinaikos. Agueropolis was a year older than Bielsa. He was building a house but with the money Newell’s were paying him he could not afford to finish it. Bielsa offered him his salary, telling Agueropolis: ‘Take my money and put a roof on your house. Pay me back when you can.’ Throughout his career, Marcelo Bielsa would be tough about money. He knew his worth and the contracts, sometimes negotiated by Rafael, would be lucrative. Yet it was money that Bielsa would always spread around. When he heard that his friend from Rosario, José Falabella, was unable to have children, he paid for sessions of artificial insemination and became the godfather to José’s daughter.

			
			

			Bielsa loved being part of Newell’s, although his time in the first team would be brief, with a 1–1 draw against San Lorenzo and a 3–1 defeat to Talleres de Córdoba in December. There would be one more game, a 3–1 victory over Esgrima La Plata, but it would not take place for another eighteen months and Bielsa would only come on as a substitute three minutes before the final whistle blew on the match and on his playing career for Newell’s Old Boys. In between, he had been offered the opportunity to play in Córdoba, a city that dominates the high sierra to the west of Rosario. Being sent out on loan is one of football’s harder assignments. You arrive as a stranger to the loneliness of a hotel room before training among players who in Bielsa’s case would have suspected he was not good enough for a club like Newell’s. He and three others from the Coloso del Parque had made the 230-mile journey by bus. He was given an apartment on the seventh floor.

			He would be playing for Instituto de Córdoba, who were in the regional rather than the national league. His first game saw him share a pitch with the fathers of two footballers whom he would manage with Argentina, Roberto Ayala and Nicolás Burdisso. Bielsa was becoming increasingly disaffected. Instituto finished eighth out of ten in the Córdoba League and Bielsa was disillusioned by the standard of the football and his own performances. He spent most of his free time learning how to tango or alone on the seventh floor reading. One of his team-mates remarked that for away games the rest of the team stuffed their bags with music cassettes to take with them; Bielsa filled his with books.

			
			

			‘He liked “difficult” conversations,’ said Eduardo Anelli, who played for Instituto as a winger. ‘He would sometimes stand in front of the manager, saying, “I disagree,” and we would look at each other asking ourselves what he meant by that.’ Another team-mate, Miguel Olmedo, said: ‘Technically, he did not stand out but he was very demanding of himself in training. He always demanded that we worked with more emphasis and once he said we should ask the coach for more physical preparation.’

			The head of the junta, Jorge Videla, had a saying for those his men went after. ‘They are neither alive nor dead,’ he once commented. ‘They are disappeared.’ In 1977 Rafael disappeared. Marcelo asked to return to Rosario. He arranged for his contract to be terminated and repaid Instituto de Córdoba the money that was still owing on it. To live in Rosario in the late 1970s was to live under the rule of Leopoldo Galtieri, who led the Second Army Corps. He ran everything in the city: his men kicked down doors in the dead of night in search of insurgents. Galtieri had a taste for Johnnie Walker Black Label scotch and for shedding other people’s blood. The grand house where Dr Rafael Bielsa once lived and worked was taken over by the Argentine security services and the library became a room from which telephones were tapped.

			
			

			One of the properties Galtieri controlled was Quinta de Funes. It was a large ranch – think Southfork in Dallas – that lay amid some lush lawns. Inside were people far more vicious than the Ewings. The Quinta de Funes was a terror laboratory to be used against those the army thought bent on destroying the dictatorship. One of their suspects was Rafael, now twenty-two. Rafael had become a committed opponent of the junta, although it was not the hippyish, flowers in your hair kind of opposition that had paralysed the United States as the Vietnam War dragged towards its unwinnable conclusion. His activism was hard, determined, puritanical. ‘When I was young and involved in radical politics in the 1970s, drugs were considered a tool of imperialism,’ he said. ‘We made fun of the hippies because cannabis made them unable to function.’ He was arrested, blindfolded and brought to the Quinta de Funes. A man’s voice, deep and gravelly, asked why Bielsa had been donating books to a Marxist library. Only several years later, when he went to the Plaza de Mayo in Buenos Aires with 100,000 others to hear Galtieri, now president of Argentina, announce the occupation of the Falklands, did Rafael realise whose voice it had been. Many years later, he would incorporate his experiences at the Quinta de Funes in a novel, which in 2015 was released as a film, Operation Mexico, A Pact of Love.

			
			

			Rafael spent three years in exile in Spain before returning to Argentina in 1980. Two years later came the Falklands War and it says something for the hysteria that gripped the country that Rafael, working as a lawyer in the Ministry of Justice, something of an oxymoron in Galtieri’s Argentina, was caught up in it. He decided to volunteer for military service. Interviewed by the New York Times in a queue to register, he said: ‘After many years, this is the first thing that has brought us together. The soldiers who were killed in the disembarkation were the first martyrs that Argentines have been able to share.’ Behind him was an engineer with a far more sanguine view of the invasion. ‘This is just a manoeuvre by the military to distract us,’ he told the New York Times reporter, James Markham. ‘The economy is in a mess; the country could explode. Most of the people here are civil servants who think that by going to the Malvinas temporarily they can get double pay. I’m going because I want to make money. If I can be among the first ones there, I can get the first contracts and make a lot.’

			Nobody in Buenos Aires, Markham reported, thought there would be a war. The junta was prepared to offer the islanders colour television in time for them to watch the World Cup from Spain. That had been a bauble the junta had dangled before. In 1978, as the nation prepared for its own World Cup, Argentina was presented with colour television for the first time. As for so many people in Argentina, the 1978 World Cup left a deep impression on Marcelo Bielsa, not just because the home side won but also because of the style and drama with which César Menotti’s side took the trophy.

			
			

			Rosario played a central and hugely controversial part in that World Cup. Perhaps because its capacity was slightly greater, perhaps because it was where Mario Kempes, the spearhead of Menotti’s attack, played his club football, the Gigante de Arroyito rather than the Coloso del Parque had been chosen to stage the city’s games. Argentina played all of its second-group games in Rosario. Whoever topped the group would go to the World Cup final. On his home ground Kempes scored twice against Poland and for good measure punched the ball off the line from Grzegorz Lato. The offence went unpunished. The encounter with Brazil was a turgid goalless draw, notable for the return of Leopoldo Luque to Argentina’s attack. Earlier in the tournament, the striker had dislocated his elbow in the 2–1 win over France in the Estadio Monumental. His brother, driving from Santa Fe to Buenos Aires to see him, was burned to death in a car crash on the Pan-American Highway. There were two games left. Brazil’s match, against Poland in Mendoza, in the foothills of the Andes, finished an hour and a quarter before Argentina faced Peru at the Arroyito. Brazil won 3–1. Argentina would have to win by four clear goals if they were to meet Holland in the final.

			
			

			What followed is football’s equivalent of the Kennedy assassination, a game alive with conspiracy theories that ranged from vast grain deliveries made from Argentina to Peru to $50 million of trade credit being unfrozen. The Argentine government was even accused of offering their counterparts in Lima use of their torture centres – which to two military dictatorships would have seemed like a cultural exchange.

			Before kick-off, Videla, accompanied by Richard Nixon’s former secretary of state, Henry Kissinger, who was a fervent football fan, entered the Peruvian dressing room ‘to wish the opposition good luck’. ‘Were we pressured? Yes, we were pressured,’ said José Velásquez, who played in midfield for Peru in what turned into a 6–0 rout that swept Argentina to the final and a storm of ticker tape in the Estadio Monumental. ‘What kind of pressure? Pressure that went from the government to the team managers and from the manager to the coaches.’ Peru’s goalkeeper, Ramón Quiroga, had been born in Rosario and when interviewed by La Nación twenty years later he said he felt more Argentine than Peruvian. On the eve of the game, some of Peru’s players approached the manager, Marcos Calderón, asking him not to select Quiroga.

			The problem for the conspiracy theorists is that only when the final whistle blew in Mendoza seventy-five minutes before kick-off in Rosario did Argentina know the exact score – 4–0 – that would send them through. Not one of Menotti’s players, not even those viscerally opposed to the junta, thought the match was fixed. Just before the World Cup began, soldiers had entered a bowling alley and arrested two of Alberto Tarantini’s friends, who were never seen again. At a reception for Argentina’s sports stars, the defender plucked up the courage to walk over to Videla and ask the general what had happened to them. Videla replied that he had not been responsible. Tarantini thought Peru had suffered stage fright but no more.

			
			

			The centre-back, Luis Galván, told Jon Spurling for his book Death or Glory:

			All of us were used to explosive atmospheres inside Argentine grounds but this was quite unlike anything else. The noise and the colour were special. I glanced up at the dignitaries’ section when we ran out. There was Videla and Lacoste (the admiral who was to succeed Videla). They were lords of all they surveyed. Although you try to focus on the game, you realise it is more than a game when the junta is there. Mario Kempes scored after twenty minutes and we went in at half-time 2–0 ahead. It is always the perfect score, I think. You’ve enough of a lead to be confident in what you do but not enough so you can sit back and relax. In the second half we pulverised Peru. Did I detect anything remotely wrong with Peru’s performance? Not for one minute.

			
			

			By the time the World Cup was lifted in the Monumental, Bielsa was already turning his thoughts towards coaching. The theatre critic Kenneth Tynan once remarked of his relationship with an actor or director that ‘a critic is someone who has a map but can’t drive’. Jorge Griffa would say something similar about Bielsa: ‘He didn’t have the ability to be a great player but he had the idea of what one was.’ By the time he was twenty-four, Bielsa knew his career as a footballer was unlikely to take him very far but he was already studying his maps. José Luis Danguise, who had gone from Newell’s to Córdoba with Bielsa, said: ‘He was already sketching out his career as a coach. You would go to his apartment or he would come to mine and on a piece of paper he would demonstrate how Instituto should play. He was far in advance of us in his vision of what football could be.’

			Bielsa’s last taste of what football was like as a player came in the third division with Argentina de Rosario. ‘He was becoming more serious,’ recalled one of his team-mates, Luis Martarello, to Mundo Deportivo. ‘He didn’t laugh and he hated jokes, although nobody made them. It seemed like he was preparing for other things.’ Initially, the other things included running a newspaper kiosk with Raúl Delpontigo who had been his faithful companion from Newell’s to Córdoba and then Argentina Rosario. They would pile their bicycles high with newspapers to take them to the kiosk, although according to Delpontigo Bielsa never quite found the courage to shout out his wares. He did, however, become an expert in sourcing sports magazines from around the world and the kiosk lasted ten years before it was sold. By then, Bielsa had become not just a coach but one of the most exciting and innovative coaches in South America. His first job would be at the University of Buenos Aires.

			
			

			It was December, midsummer in Argentina, and Aldo Forti, the head coach of the University of Buenos Aires was driving through the city on his way to the doctor’s. The traffic was bad and he was running late. At the corner of Scalabrini and Las Heras, the phone rang. He was not inclined to pick it up but the number was Spanish so he took it. ‘Mr Aldo Forti? Are you busy?’ It was Marcelo Bielsa phoning nearly thirty years after he took over the University of Buenos Aires football team. He was now in charge of Athletic Bilbao. ‘I was thinking of my appointment. I wondered if the conversation would take as long as one of his press conferences,’ said Forti.

			I wanted to write it down, so I would remember it. I didn’t have a biro, let alone a piece of paper. I would have written what he said on a brick, a bit of concrete or even on the street itself. He talked mesmerisingly for eight minutes and at the end I said: ‘I hope I can remember all of this.’

			
			

			In Bilbao, Bielsa had been thinking of the past. The University of Buenos Aires had been his first coaching job and he wanted to apologise for not having been in touch for all these years. He had taken up the appointment in 1982, the year his brother went to the Casa Rosada to volunteer to fight, the year the Falklands War saw the grisly grip of the generals come loose, the year Argentina changed forever.

			In 1982, Aldo Forti was studying architecture. Soon he would be doing 600 sit-ups a day with Bielsa refusing to end the training session until every exercise was completed to perfection.

			He believed everyone should be treated equally but the higher you rose in the squad, the more should be demanded of you. At least, that is what he believed at the age of twenty-seven. There was a guy called Eloy del Val, a real physical specimen, whom he wanted to take down a peg or two. Once, when we were going up the steps to the dressing room, Bielsa took off his watch and his jacket and gave them to the person nearest to him and said: ‘Mr Del Val, let us settle this like gentlemen.’ There wasn’t a fight but it was a sufficient display of strength for him to be able to put this guy on the bench for the next game. He would respond really strongly if one of his players was kicked from behind. He would run on to the pitch to defend his players. Another time, when one of our players was elbowed, Bielsa went looking for the offender after the game. He may have been only three years older than us but he convinced us with the conviction with which the guy talked. There was the professionalism. Under our previous coach, we were playing a semi-final at 10.30, they knocked on the door at ten and the coach was fast asleep. We repeated Bielsa’s exercises until they were second nature. Time didn’t matter; he didn’t say as other coaches would have said: ‘They are only students; they are tired.’ He demanded. Always. Today it’s common to work like Bielsa but in the day he was an innovator. We went from being coached by a man who did not know what time the games started to someone like Bielsa who took us to the training grounds of Argentinos or Boca Juniors reserves.

			
			

			Miguel Calloni studied agronomics at Buenos Aires. He was twenty-three when Bielsa took over the side.

			There was always a distance between us. We never chatted or gossiped, despite the fact we were quite close in age to one another. Nor did he open up to us very much. He was never a mate but I have very good memories of him. He was very full on and really believed in his ideas. There are very few players who speak badly of him after having passed through his hands. As a team we wanted to attack and physically we could really take on the teams we were up against. He motivated us with the seriousness with which he took things. I don’t remember there being a revolt over too much training for example – which you might have expected from students.

			
			

			Then there came a chance meeting, back in Rosario. Bielsa ran into Eduardo Bermúdez, who had once coached him in the reserve teams at Newell’s. He told Bielsa he had taken over as manager of Central Córdoba. There was a job going at the Coloso del Parque. Together, they went over to see Jorge Griffa. ‘I want to be a coach,’ Bielsa said. ‘Perfect. Come and work with me and let’s see how far we get.’

		

	
		
			
			

			The Road to Murphy

			It was one o’clock in the morning, midwinter 1987. A white Fiat 147 was lost on the prairie and the occupants stopped at a service station to ask directions. They were driving towards the small town of Murphy, looking for a teenage boy who at that time would almost certainly be asleep. Mauricio Pochettino would get up at five in the morning to go to school, where he was studying agriculture. Once they were back in the car, Marcelo Bielsa and Jorge Griffa set off again. The pair were in the midst of a grand project that would transform Newell’s Old Boys into the champions of Argentina. Newell’s, like Rosario Central, lacked the wealth of the great clubs of Buenos Aires and Bielsa and Griffa both understood that youth development was the key to their survival.

			Once he began work at the Coloso del Parque, Bielsa had divided up Argentina into blocks of 50 square miles and organised football tournaments in each one. They took the best boys back to Rosario for trials. That evening they had just held a trial at Villa Cañás, a small town three hours’ drive south of Rosario. They were having dinner with one of the local coaches when they asked him if there were any boys they might have missed. The coach mentioned Pochettino. They set off straight away.

			
			

			Murphy lies on Route 33, which runs 468 miles south-east from Rosario to Bahía Blanca on the Atlantic coast, where the flatness of the prairie meets Patagonia and Argentina starts turning into a wild land of glaciers and fjords. Bielsa and Griffa found Pochettino’s house and knocked on the door. His mother answered and, not unreasonably given the time, asked her husband, Hector, to come down and talk to these strangers. Their son takes up the story in his autobiography, Brave New World:

			Bielsa told me that after chatting for five or ten minutes they didn’t know what to say or talk about so they decided to ask my father: ‘Could we see the boy?’ Despite the early hour, my proud parents said yes and they came to my bedroom to take a look. They saw me sleeping and Griffa asked: ‘May I see his legs?’ My mother pulled the covers off me and they both said: ‘He looks like a footballer. Look at those legs.’ Although my small bedroom was full of people admiring my legs, I slept like a log and had no idea about it until my old man spilled the beans the following morning.

			
			

			Murphy could claim to be the very heart of Argentine football. It was named after a sheep farmer from County Wexford, John James Murphy, who in 1844 had bought a passage from Liverpool to Buenos Aires. Once there, he had earned a living digging ditches. ‘We live like fighting cocks in this country,’ he had written to his brother. Murphy became a hugely successful sheep farmer, who was able to pay the equivalent of £6,000 today for a first-class berth to visit his family in Ireland. In 1883, once the Argentine government had cleared the native Mapuche Indians, he bought 46,000 hectares of land that would one day bear his name. Sheep gave way to wheat and cattle, and families from Piedmont in northern Italy, like the Pochettinos, came to farm.

			Murphy produced something else: footballers. As you enter the little town on Route 33, there is a billboard depicting twelve players below which are the words ‘Murphy, Ambassadors of Good Football’. That a town of 4,000, so insignificant it was not thought worthy of being officially named until 1966, should have produced a dozen professional footballers, including Paulo Gazzaniga, who joined Pochettino at Tottenham, seems extraordinary. Bielsa and Griffa’s journey to Murphy carries echoes of Alex Ferguson pulling up outside Ryan Giggs’ house on his fourteenth birthday to sign him for Manchester United in the same year, 1987. Ferguson was driving a gold Mercedes rather than a little white Fiat but there was a similar determination not to allow young talent to escape. There was another similarity, too. Giggs had been training with Manchester City, who had fully expected to sign him. Pochettino had been training with Rosario Central.

			
			

			One of the first of Murphy’s footballers to break through had been David Bisconti, who had joined Rosario Central and whose career later took him to Japan. Bisconti had recommended Central to Pochettino and, after school, he used to take the three-hour bus journey to Rosario, train with Central’s youth team, stay the night, train again and then take the bus back down Route 33. Griffa and Bielsa persuaded Pochettino to come with them in January, the month in which he would be able to sign professional forms, for a tournament in Mar del Plata. They converted him from a striker to a defender, which did not stop him scoring a spectacular goal against a Paraguayan team, Olimpia, that won Newell’s the final. He signed.

			At Newell’s, Pochettino said he felt closer to Griffa than to Bielsa but that together they formed a formidable team. ‘Griffa was a fearless person who, from the very first time I met him, impressed me with his energy, his gruff imposing voice and his aura of invincibility,’ Pochettino said. ‘He didn’t spin yarns like a poet. On the contrary, he was very direct and his words would get straight through to you, resonating deeply. He acted like he spoke.’

			
			

			Marcelo Bielsa’s relationship with Jorge Griffa was perhaps the strongest and most rewarding of his career. In November 2018, a few months after Bielsa joined Leeds, Newell’s opened an accommodation centre for their players, paid for by Bielsa and designed by María Eugenia. It was named after Jorge Griffa, who was the guest of honour for the official opening. Four decades after they began working together, Bielsa paid an emotional tribute, via video link, to a man who had become his mentor:

			Every day I would wait until it was 7pm and go to the office Jorge had at the Parque just to listen to him talk. Few things that are said today about sport were not told to me in his own way by Jorge forty years ago, He was a teacher with a capital T. He taught me his unconditional love for football and a decency that has survived in a world full of vices. He had the idea that a job must be done in a professional manner even if you receive nothing in exchange. In other words, we do things in return for nothing just for the pleasure of seeing the results of the efforts we made – just so we can measure what we are capable of.

			Griffa was born and grew up on Route 33 in the town of Casilda, famed for producing one of Argentina’s most celebrated tango singers, Agustín Magaldi, who in Evita is depicted as Eva Duarte’s first lover and mentor. Like Bielsa, Jorge Griffa played as a centre-half though he was a vastly more successful one. He was resilient and tough, especially when it came to finding his way home to Casilda after a game. Sometimes, he would hitch a lift on a milk truck; other times he would sleep in the church where his uncle worked. After five years with Newell’s Old Boys, Griffa crossed the Atlantic to join Atlético Madrid. He was part of a team that won La Liga and the Copa del Rey and in 1962, in Stuttgart, the Atlético side overcame Fiorentina to win the Cup-Winners’ Cup. Remarkably, he won these trophies while in consistent pain, having torn his cruciate ligaments when he was twenty-one.

			
			

			I carried on. To have an operation on the cruciate ligaments at that time basically meant having to quit football. Of course, it hurt and I would spend each Monday with ice wrapped on the leg. I would wrap bandages below my knee when I played which prevented me stretching it too much.

			After a spell in Barcelona with Espanyol, Griffa returned to Newell’s in 1972 to begin overhauling their youth system. His idea, one that would be seized upon and expanded by Marcelo Bielsa, was to actively bring young footballers to the Coloso del Parque rather than just rely on whatever Newell’s produced in their own constituency:

			
			

			To compete with River, Boca, Independiente, San Lorenzo and, at that time, Huracán, we had to come up with an idea. So, I decided to go and look for players instead of waiting for them. The other teams waited for players to emerge while we went to look for them. That is how we made a great team.

			Bielsa and Griffa divided Argentina up into seventy zones and subdivided each zone into five. From these 350 zones they thought they might find perhaps three young footballers of interest. In total, they scouted 1,050 players and travelled nearly 3,500 miles, from Misiones near the border with Brazil, laced with jungle, to the Río Negro, which marks the beginning of the wastes of Patagonia. As a journey it was the equal of Che Guevara’s as depicted in The Motorcycle Diaries and produced rather more in the way of concrete achievements. The Fiat 147 was not a car designed for long distances or many passengers, especially since the handle on the left-hand door was broken. Bielsa did not always travel with Jorge Griffa. Sometimes a friend of Bielsa’s father, Oscar Isola, who happily enough was a mechanic, would come with him. Other times it was Luis Milisi, a friend of Bielsa’s who sold spare parts. Once when Milisi asked if they could take a detour so he could do a bit of business, Bielsa suggested it would be better if they went their separate ways and drove off.

			Often when scouting they trusted their instincts. Once Argentina’s National Youth Team found themselves in the town of Reconquista on their way back to Buenos Aires from Corrientes in the north of the country. They hastily arranged a game against the local team. They lost 2–1. Although Reconquista is a seven-hour bus ride from Rosario, Griffa was watching the striker who scored both goals. ‘He didn’t look like a footballer,’ he noted. ‘He was a big lad and, when he shot, the ball could go anywhere. He didn’t know how to head the ball properly and nor did he have the physique of a footballer.’ He decided to sign him anyway. The boy’s name was Gabriel Batistuta. It took considerable persuasion to get him to stay at Newell’s. His first passion was horses – after retirement, Batistuta would indulge his love for polo – and his great ambition was to become a doctor. Batistuta’s father was a slaughterhouse worker who was determined his son would enjoy a better life than he had done. Griffa persuaded Batistuta that football could offer him as much as medicine.

			
			

			‘I had it in my head that a footballer’s career was a risky one,’ said Batistuta.

			I went back to Reconquista. Newell’s gave me twenty days off and I stayed for a month until they came looking for me. Griffa found me and said: ‘We have confidence in you and, trust me, you will play in the Primera.’ It was enough to convince me and, six months later, I was playing in the Primera. When I signed my first contract, I thought I might make a living from football. It was at Newell’s that my mindset totally changed. I fell in love with football.’

			
			

			Initially, it was hard. ‘When I arrived at Newell’s, I was fat, it was as simple as that,’ he said. Bielsa told Batistuta to get rid of the alfajores, which are very sweet biscuits covered in chocolate. ‘He also taught me to train in the rain and I hated him for it. We were a group of dreamers and the greatest dreamer was Bielsa. He dreamed about being Arrigo Sacchi whom he constantly watched winning European Cups with AC Milan. He wanted that to be us – a group of street kids to become heroes.’

			Batistuta made his debut in 1988 but it was only when he moved to Boca Juniors two years later that Gabriel Batistuta began turning into the striker who was to become known as ‘Batigol’. He played only sixteen times for Newell’s before heading south, first to River Plate, where he failed to make a mark, and then to the Bombonera to win the title with Boca. ‘Griffa and Bielsa wanted to create their own team at Newell’s and make them champions,’ he recalled.

			They did it and I missed out on it. It hurt a lot not to have stayed at Newell’s. I felt that by leaving I was betraying the ideas of Bielsa and Griffa and even my own team-mates. When they were successful, I told myself: ‘I can’t go back.’ I was too proud but it worked out well for me at Boca. I was lucky.

			
			

			Bielsa’s youth teams played in games organised around Rosario. Among his players were Fernando Gamboa, Eduardo Berizzo and Darío Franco, who would all win the Primera under Bielsa’s management. They were impeccably drilled. In the book Life in Red and Black, Martín Prieto describes watching them play against a minor club, Deportivo Armenio, and seeing the team change shape on the pitch ‘like an umbrella opening and closing’. While Griffa and Bielsa were laying the foundations, Newell’s was undergoing an extraordinary transformation under José Yudica, one of the forgotten greats of Argentine football. When in 1988 he took Newell’s to the first national title in their history, he also became the first manager in Argentina to win titles with three different clubs, having taken Quilmes to their only title in 1981 and four years later winning the championship with Argentinos Juniors, whom for good measure he made Copa Libertadores champions. However, for a man born in Rosario and who had joined Newell’s as a midfielder in 1959, it was winning the Primera at the Coloso del Parque that kindled the warmest memories. ‘It happened to me in a way that perhaps it does not happen to anyone else,’ he said. ‘To be a fan of the club, to be a player who becomes a manager that makes that club champions – it is like one of those films that is never forgotten.’ There was almost a spectacular sequel. He took Newell’s to the final of the Copa Libertadores, where they would face Nacional of Uruguay. The first leg was played not at the Coloso del Parque but at Central’s ground, the Gigante de Arroyito, which had a bigger capacity. Newell’s won, 1–0, but in the return in front of 75,000 at the Centenario in Montevideo, they were overwhelmed.

			
			

			In 1990, Yudica made a decision that would change Bielsa’s life. He took up an offer to manage Deportivo Cali, where he had won the Colombian league as a player. There was a vacancy at the Coloso del Parque – one that Marcelo Bielsa was ideally placed to fill. The move to Cali marked the beginning of the decline of Yudica’s coaching career, which never really recovered from a day in 1992, when he was managing Argentinos Juniors once more. Argentine football had long been infected by groups of organised fans, known as the barras bravas, who dealt in violence and intimidation. Suddenly, there was a disturbance at the training ground; the barras bravas were at the gates. Their target was Yudica’s son, who was working as his assistant. Yudica rushed towards them, holding a gun which he fired into the air. He saved his boy from a beating but at the cost of his job.

		

	
		
			
			

			Newell’s carajo!

			It was the eve of the final game of the season. Newell’s were at home to San Lorenzo, a club that had precisely nothing to play for. If Newell’s won, they would be champions. If they failed and River Plate overcame Vélez Sarsfield, the glory would be denied them. The team spent the night at the Military Aviation College in Funes, not far from where Rafael had been imprisoned by Leopoldo Galtieri. Marcelo Bielsa demanded total concentration, even from himself. ‘My wife is pregnant and there are complications,’ he told his players. ‘I have told her that in an emergency she can call her parents or her sisters but not me. If one of you needs a telephone for a situation more urgent than that, then you can use it.’

			Newell’s drew with San Lorenzo. In Buenos Aires, River Plate and Vélez still had six minutes to run. There, too, the scores were level. The Newell’s players waited by the touchline. Transistor radios were pressed to as many ears as the speakers would allow. For Bielsa, the tension was too much. He had left the stadium and was now outside on a training pitch behind one of the stands. A helicopter clattering overhead meant he could barely hear. All he could see through the wooden slats of the stand were the legs of the Newell’s fans. He noticed none of them was moving from their seats and nobody was shouting. ‘Inside of me I was asking them to please say something,’ he recalled afterwards. ‘Then one fan turned around and recognised me. He gave me the score with hand signals. Then there was this huge roar and I ran inside and everyone started hugging me.’

			
			

			River Plate had drawn. Newell’s were champions. By the time Bielsa returned to the touchline, wearing a grey, sweat-stained shirt, some of the crowd were on the pitch, some were still behind the fences. His players hoisted their manager up onto their shoulders and as he clutched a Newell’s shirt in one hand, he began screaming ‘Newell’s carajo!’ (‘fucking Newell’s!’) over and over again. It was the kind of language he would normally never use but it expressed the sheer relief, the utter unbridled joy of it all. He had taken his club – one that was thought more in danger of sliding out of the Primera than winning it – to the summit in his opening season. With his first throw of the dice, he had rolled a six.

			
			

			A few months before, Marcelo Bielsa had been sitting in an office in Rosario’s Calle Mitre, not far from where he grew up. He was thirty-four and was being interviewed for the job of managing Newell’s Old Boys. His champions had been Jorge Griffa and one of his old friends, Carlos Altieri, who was a director of the club. ‘He is capable, he’s a hard worker and he’s from Newell’s, what more do you want?’ had been Altieri’s campaign message. The team was starting to falter and, with limited money, the need was to push young players forward and nobody knew the young players at Newell’s like Marcelo Bielsa.

			There were alternatives. Reinaldo Merlo, who had played more than 500 games for River Plate, had been given a shot at managing at the Monumental. Although he had been dismissed, his successor, Daniel Passarella, had given Merlo great credit for building a team that he would take to the title. There was Humberto Zuccarelli at nearby Union Santa Fe. Neither, surely, would have interviewed as well as Marcelo Bielsa. One of those in attendance was Raúl Oliveros, the club treasurer. Bielsa preached sacrifice and humility at a club that financially and in playing terms was on the slide since its exploits in the Libertadores. The policy of having the pre-match concentración in high-class hotels, like the Presidente in central Rosario, would cease. ‘He’s a phenomenon,’ said Oliveros to Altieri. ‘It has to be him.’

			In England, Bielsa would have faced two hurdles. He had not really played the game and he was posh. A man with Roy Hodgson’s playing career and Frank Lampard’s private education, complete with A grade at Latin, would run the risk of being portrayed as Jacob Rees-Mogg in a tracksuit. In Argentina, this seems to have been far less of an issue. The sports journalist Esteban Bekerman says Bielsa’s background was seldom if ever mentioned. Mauricio Pochettino remarked that in Argentina almost everyone refers to themselves as ‘middle-class’. In Murphy his father, who had left school at twelve, worked 100 hectares of land by himself. They had an outside bathroom. He told Mauricio he was middle-class.

			
			

			However, Bielsa’s use of language was a problem. Bielsa speaks a clear, precise Spanish using idioms he felt some of his players would not understand. He sometimes used a thesaurus before giving team talks, to put his words into a simpler language. When addressing footballers, he would use the formal usted rather than tú. The best way to imagine it in English would be if he were to address his players as ‘Mr Shearer’ or ‘Mr Gerrard’.

			There were times when words would not do. Sometimes, to make his point, Bielsa would draw on the boots or studs of a player where he wanted the ball to be played. ‘I come from a very modest background,’ the defender Fernando Gamboa remarked in La Vida por el fútbol. ‘When he started to do his drawing on my studs, I couldn’t believe it. When he was doing it, I stopped listening because all I could think about was how he was ruining my boots.’

			
			

			The tactics used by Bielsa were different from those Argentine football had been used to. The impact of the two World Cup victories in 1978 and 1986 had divided coaching in Argentina into two camps. There were those who followed César Menotti’s ideas that the very essence of football meant taking risks, and the football of Carlos Bilardo which held that, no matter how you got it, the result was everything. Bielsa claimed to be following a ‘middle way’ that combined the best of both. ‘It’s really not true to say that every coach in Argentina either followed Menotti or Bilardo,’ said Esteban Bekerman.

			The idea came about because we football journalists in Argentina like to put everyone in boxes. At the time, Bielsa’s ideas seemed new. He was obsessive about training, repetitions and educating his footballers about the game. He also said something which I disagree with. He said in Argentina we like our football played quickly, that we have no patience with a continual passing game. If you study the history of football in Argentina, we have always liked players with very good passing ability who move the ball around. José Pékerman (who took Argentina to the 2006 World Cup) was much more typical of Argentinian football than Bielsa. Bielsa and his disciples like Gabriel Heinze, when he took over at Vélez Sarsfield, and Mauricio Pochettino at Tottenham, play too quickly for our taste. It is more difficult to make good decisions if you have too much speed. He had that passion for football that is so evident in Rosario, you see it in Bielsa, in Lionel Messi and Jorge Valdano. Bielsa wanted football with no customs posts. He wanted the ball passed quickly from defence to midfield with a lot of speed and a lot of running. Some people try to put Pep Guardiola and Marcelo Bielsa on the same level. They are not the same, they are very different. The way Guardiola’s teams play is very South American, very Argentinian. They pass the ball a lot, there is a lot of time on the ball, a lot of tiki-taka if you like. If you watch Gabriel Heinze’s teams at Vélez, they are very similar to Bielsa’s – they don’t have a midfield. Heinze is very interested in defence and attack, which is very honest because football is essentially about defence and attack. The Newell’s team he [Bielsa] built will always be remembered as one of the greatest teams Argentina saw in the 1990s but it will not be remembered as more than that because they didn’t win anything internationally. They did not win the Copa Libertadores; they didn’t win an Intercontinental Cup. There was a price to be paid for being so single-minded and being so well known for how you play, and that is that every single team that played against Argentina in the 2002 World Cup when Marcelo Bielsa was manager knew exactly how they would play. There would be no Plan B.
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